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cavity of the shell. The CellockED lock is also configured to unlock to enable access to the mobile 

device based on a predetermined condition associated with a geographic region.

47. Defendants’ CellockED technology has used, and is using, the technology of the 

’078 Patent. Upon information and belief, Defendants have derived revenue from their infringing 

activities. According to the CellockED website, Defendants have partnered with at least Denver 

Public Schools, Tulsa Public Schools, Taylor Independent School District, Taos Municipal 

Schools, and the Raymondville Independent School District. Upon information and belief, 

Defendants are profiting from these partnerships. An image of a portion of the infringing product 

is shown below in a photo included on Guerra’s personal LinkedIn page. 
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https://www.linkedin.com/posts/james-guerra-21a5434_thank-you-denver-public-schools-for-

partnering-activity-7237904973856923650-

QBuy?utm_source=share&utm_medium=member_desktop. 

48. Defendants’ CellockED technology is also covered by claims in allowed U.S. 

Patent Application 16/813,437. Defendants used, and are using the technology of U.S. Patent 

Application 16/813,437. Should Defendants contend that they did not have knowledge of this 

application, this Complaint serves as actual notice under 35 U.S.C. § 154(d). Yondr expects this 

application to issue into a patent soon and intends to amend this Complaint to add that patent at 

that time. 

3. CellockED infringes Yondr’s Trademark. 

49. Defendants launched CellockED after Yondr’s commercial success, seeking to 

trade in on the goodwill of the Yondr System by marketing obvious copycat products – phone 

locking cases indistinguishable from the Yondr Pouches. Defendants are not licensed or otherwise 

authorized to market or distribute products embodying the Yondr Registered Product 

Configuration Mark.  

50. CellockED has the same distinctive configuration as the Yondr System including, 

but not limited to: (i) tapered, opposing flaps extending upward from an opening; (ii) a knob 

located in the center of one of the tapered flaps; and (iii) decorative binding along the outer edge 

of the whole pouch. Side by side comparisons of the Yondr and copycat CellockED cases plainly 

show the striking similarities:  
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51. Defendants were aware of the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark when 

they launched CellockED. Upon information and belief, Defendants intentionally infringed the 

Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark.

52. Defendants’ acts are causing and, unless restrained, will continue to cause damage 

and immediate irreparable harm to Yondr and to its valuable reputation and goodwill with the 

consuming public for which Yondr has no adequate remedy at law.

E. Defendants Make False and Misleading Claims About Yondr to Promote the
CellockEd Product. 

53. As stated above, the Defendants’ CellockED website also includes a false and 

misleading YouTube video criticizing the Yondr System. 

54. Upon information and belief, potential customers have accessed and will continue 

to access the video either on Defendants’ CellockED website or the CellockED YouTube page. 

55. Defendants’ misleading YouTube video spends nearly a minute discussing Yondr, 

including making a false and misleading claim about the Yondr System’s functionality. During the 

video the screen is split in two with one side having the text “Do they (Yondr Systems) work as 

they should?” and is followed by a video of Yondr Pouches not opening when placed on the 

magnetic unlocking means. 

Yondr Pouch CellockED Pouch Yondr U.S. Pat. No. 
9,819,788

Yondr U.S. 
TM Reg. No. 

6,995,045
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56. The misleading YouTube video was meant to, and does, cast unjustified doubt on 

the quality of Yondr and the Yondr System. 

57. The misleading YouTube video has intentionally misled and continues to mislead 

Yondr’s potential customers about the quality of the Yondr System. The video intentionally 

misleads viewers to think that the Yondr System does not work as it should when the video’s actor 

is not using it properly. As stated above, the video includes the text “Do they (the Yondr Pouches) 

work as they should?” and is followed by a video of Yondr pouches not opening when placed on 

the magnetic unlocking means. The actor in the video is not using the Yondr System properly. 

Upon information and belief, Defendants intentionally had the actor incorrectly use the Yondr 

System to mislead viewers and convince them that Yondr’s quality is less than what it is. The 

Yondr Pouch did not unlock in CellockED’s YouTube video upon the actor placing it on the 

magnetic unlocking mechanism. That said, the Yondr Pouch is not supposed to unlock just by 

placing it on the magnetic unlocking mechanism. In reality, to unlock the Yondr Pouch, users are 

instructed to click the “button” on the Pouch once it is held to the magnetic unlocking mechanism. 

Therefore, the actor in the CellockED video is misusing and misleading consumers into believing 

the Yondr Pouch does not function properly. Had the actor in CellockED’s video clicked the button 

on the Yondr Pouch, the Pouch would have unlocked, as it always does.  
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58. Defendants knowingly made these and, upon information and belief, other false 

statements about Yondr. Upon further information and belief, Defendants expect and know their 

defamatory statements could harm and have harmed Yondr, but included those statements anyway.

59. Upon information and belief, Yondr has lost business due to Defendants’

defamatory statements including an opportunity to partner with and sell its system to various 

school districts.

60. Defendants’ acts are causing and, unless restrained, will continue to cause damage 

and immediate irreparable harm to Yondr and to its valuable reputation and goodwill with the 

consuming public for which Yondr has no adequate remedy at law.

F. Defendant Guerra’s Personal Liability

61. Defendant Guerra is the manager and sole employee of Defendant Be Smarter.

62. Upon information and belief, as the Manager and sole employee of Defendant Be 

Smarter, Defendant Guerra will control this litigation. 

63. Upon information and belief, Defendant Guerra provided all the capital to form 

Defendant Be Smarter. 
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64. Upon information and belief, Defendant Guerra is responsible for the sales and 

marketing of Defendant Be Smarter.

65. Upon information and belief, Defendant Guerra is responsible for the sales and 

marketing of Defendant Be Smarter’s CellockED product. This is demonstrated by, for example, 

some of the CellockED related LinkedIn posts from Guerra’s personal LinkedIn account, shown 

below. 
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https://www.linkedin.com/in/james-guerra-21a5434/recent-activity/all/.

66. Upon information and belief, as the Manger and sole employee of Defendant Be 

Smarter, Defendant Guerra controls and makes all of Defendant Be Smarter’s decisions. 
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67. Upon information and belief, as the Manger and sole employee of Defendant Be 

Smarter, Defendant Guerra has full responsibility for Defendant Be Smarter’s business. 

68. As the Manger and sole employee of Defendant Be Smarter, Defendant Guerra 

stands to benefit personally from the business of Defendant Be Smarter. 

69. Defendant Guerra holds himself out as the Manager and person who controls 

Defendant Be Smarter and makes all of Be Smarter’s decisions.  

70. Defendant Guerra willfully, knowingly and/or actively participated in and 

supervised the illegal and willfully infringing activities of Defendant Be Smarter, and used 

Defendant Be Smarter to carry out his illegal and willfully infringing activities.  

71. Defendant Guerra’s active participation in and supervision of Defendant Be 

Smarter’s wrongful misconduct was intentional, unjustified, and/or malicious, and done to 

purposefully harm Yondr and Yondr’s products. 

72. As the Manger and sole employee of Defendant Be Smarter, Defendant Guerra is 

the individual at Be Smarter with the responsibility for deliberately choosing to trade on the 

goodwill established by Yondr by intentionally infringing the Yondr Registered Product 

Configuration Mark to falsely suggest Yondr’s products were somehow associated with Defendant 

Be Smarter and/or to falsely suggest CellockED originated with Yondr.  

73. Upon information and belief, Defendant Guerra made the decision to go forward 

with the infringing use of Yondr’s Registered Product Configuration Mark. 

74. Defendant Guerra stood to benefit personally and profit from the decision to use 

Yondr’s Registered Product Configuration Mark without authorization. 
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75. Upon information and belief, Defendant Guerra willfully, knowingly and/or 

actively participated in and supervised Defendant Be Smarter in making the false and misleading 

claims about Yondr, and used Defendant Be Smarter to make his false and misleading claims.  

76. Upon information and belief, as the Manager and sole employee of Be Smarter, 

Defendant Guerra is responsible for and chose to create the false and misleading YouTube videos 

concerning Yondr.  

77. Upon information and belief, Defendant Guerra stood to benefit personally and 

profit from the public’s reaction to the false and misleading YouTube videos concerning Yondr.  

78. Defendant Guerra is also personally liable for the acts of Defendant Be Smarter 

because the corporate veil of Be Smarter should be pierced and/or because Defendant Guerra is 

the alter ego of Defendant Be Smarter. A unity of interest and ownership causes any separate 

personalities of Defendant Be Smarter and Defendant Guerra to no longer exist. Further, 

circumstances exist such that adherence to the fiction of a separate corporate existence would 

sanction a fraud or promote injustice. More specifically, upon information and belief: (1) 

Defendant Guerra used Defendant Be Smarter to commit fraud or perpetrate a serious wrong, 

including intentional misrepresentation, concealment, or reckless misstatement of material facts; 

(2) Defendant Be Smarter was inadequately capitalized; and/or (3) Defendant Be Smarter is a mere 

façade for the operations of Defendant Guerra.  

COUNT 1: INFRINGEMENT OF THE ’788 PATENT 

79. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein. 

80. Yondr’s technology for limiting functionality of personal electronic devices is 

protected by the ’788 Patent.  

81. The ’788 Patent is valid and enforceable under the United States’ Patent Laws.  
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82. 

including the right to collect for past damages. 

83. A copy of the ’788 Patent is attached as Ex. A.  

A. The ’788 Patent 

84. The ’788 Patent is entitled “System and Apparatus for Selectively Limiting User 

Control of an Electronic Device.” It was filed on April 21, 2015. The U.S. Patent and Trademark 

Office issued the ’788 Patent on November 14, 2017. The technology disclosed and claimed in the 

’788 Patent was invented by Graham Dugoni. 

85. Embodiments of the novel system invented by Graham Dugoni and assigned to 

Yondr are reflected in exemplary claims 3, 7, 8 and 9 of the ’788 Patent which recite:  

3. A system for selectively limiting a user’s control of such user’s 
own electronic device, comprising: 

a case sized to receive the user’s mobile electronic device having 

a front and a rear panel each having first and second longitudinally 
opposed side edges and laterally opposed lower edges, 

the first, second, and lower edges being secured together to define 
an opening for receiving a mobile electronic device, the case 
operative to become locked so that the user is unable to access his 
own mobile electronic device contained therein until a 
predetermined condition is met; 

a locking means for at least partially securing the opening; and 

means for unlocking the case. 

Ex. A, Claim 3. 

7. The case of claim 3, wherein the predetermined condition is 
physical presence outside of a defined geographical region. 

Ex. A, Claim 7. 

8. The case of claim 3, wherein the predetermined condition is the 
passage of time. 
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Ex. A, Claim 8. 

9. The system of claim 3, wherein the mobile electronic device is 
operative to receive instructions to disable one or more coded 
functions of the mobile electronic device. 

Ex. A, Claim 9. 

B. ’788 Patent Infringement Allegations 

86. Defendants’ CellockED product infringes the ’788 Patent. See Exhibit C (“Ex. C”). 

87. Defendants’ CellockED website describes CellockED as “a new cell phone pouch 

with a magnetic locking system, designed to safely secure students’ cell phones during school 

hours.” https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/. 

88. CellockED “features a unique cell phone pouch equipped with a retractable locking 

pin that unlocks only with a specialized magnetic detacher.” https://www.prnewswire.com/news-

releases/cellocked-launches-signal-blocking-cell-phone-device-for-improving-focus-and-

productivity-in-schools-302193646.html (article announcing the launch of CellockED, “a secure 

and unique solution for minimizing distractions during instructional time.”).  

89. CellockED is covered by one or more claims of the ’788 Patent. See Ex. C. 

90. Defendants have infringed, and will continue to infringe, the ’788 Patent by 

making, using, selling, or offering for sale in the United States, or importing into the United States, 

including within this Judicial District, the product sold under the name CellockED, in violation of 

35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

91. Defendants have been and are continuing to induce the infringement of the ’788 

Patent by actively and knowingly inducing others to make, use, sell, offer for sale, or import 

CellockED which embodies the invention claimed in the ’788 Patent, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 

271(b). 
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92. Yondr is entitled to recover from Defendants all damages that Yondr has sustained 

as a result of Defendants’ infringement of the 788 Patent, including, without limitation, lost profits 

and/or not less than a reasonable royalty. 

93. Defendants have knowledge of the ’788 Patent.  

94. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ infringement of the ’788 Patent has been, 

and continues to be, knowing, intentional, and willful, entitling Yondr to enhanced damages and 

attorneys’ fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284. 

95. Yondr has been damaged by Defendants’ infringement of the 788 Patent and will 

continue to be damaged unless Defendants are enjoined by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

Yondr has suffered and continues to suffer irreparable injury for which there is no adequate remedy 

at law. The balance of hardships favors Yondr, and public interest is not disserved by an injunction. 

96. Defendants’ infringement of the ’788 Patent is exceptional and entitles Yondr to 

attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C. § 285.  

COUNT 2: INFRINGEMENT OF THE ’078 PATENT 

97. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein. 

98. Yondr’s technology for limiting functionality of personal electronic devices is 

protected by the ’078 Patent.  

99. The ’078 Patent is valid and enforceable under the United States’ Patent Laws.  

100. 

including the right to collect for past damages. 

101. A copy of the ’078 Patent is attached as Exhibit B (“Ex.B”).  

A. The ’078 Patent 
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102. The ’078 Patent is entitled “System and Apparatus for Selectively Limiting User 

Control of an Electronic Device.” It was filed on March 14, 2024. The U.S. Patent and Trademark 

Office issued the ’078 Patent on October 29, 2024. The technology disclosed and claimed in the 

’078 Patent was invented by Graham Dugoni. 

103. An embodiment of the ’078 Patent’s novel system invented by Graham Dugoni and 

assigned to Yondr is reflected in exemplary claim 1 of the ’078 Patent which recites:  

1. A case comprising:  

a shell defining a cavity sized to accommodate a mobile device, the 
shell having an opening to receive the mobile device; and  

a lock positioned proximate to the opening of the shell, the lock 
configured to render the mobile device at least partially inaccessible 
upon the lock being locked with the mobile device within the cavity 
of the shell, the lock further configured to unlock to enable access 
to the mobile device based on a predetermined condition associated 
with a geographic region. 

Ex. B, Claim 1. 

B. ’078 Patent Infringement Allegations 

104. Defendants’ CellockED product infringes the ’078 Patent. See Exhibit D (“Ex. D”). 

105. Defendants’ CellockED website describes CellockED as “a new cell phone pouch 

with a magnetic locking system, designed to safely secure students’ cell phones during school 

hours.” https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/. 

106. CellockED “features a unique cell phone pouch equipped with a retractable locking 

pin that unlocks only with a specialized magnetic detacher.” https://www.prnewswire.com/news-

releases/cellocked-launches-signal-blocking-cell-phone-device-for-improving-focus-and-

productivity-in-schools-302193646.html (article announcing the launch of CellockED, “a secure 

and unique solution for minimizing distractions during instructional time.”).  
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107. CellockED is covered by one or more claims of the ’078 Patent. See Ex. D. 

108. Defendants have infringed, and will continue to infringe, the ’078 Patent by 

making, using, selling, or offering for sale in the United States, or importing into the United States, 

including within this Judicial District, the product sold under the name CellockED, in violation of 

35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

109. Defendants have been and are continuing to induce the infringement of the ’078 

Patent by actively and knowingly inducing others to make, use, sell, offer for sale, or import 

CellockED which embodies the invention claimed in the ’078 Patent, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 

271(b). 

110. Yondr is entitled to recover from Defendants all damages that Yondr has sustained 

as a result of Defendants’ infringement of the 078 Patent, including, without limitation, lost profits 

and/or not less than a reasonable royalty. 

111. Defendants have knowledge of the ’078 Patent.  

112. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ infringement of the ’078 Patent has been, 

and continues to be, knowing, intentional, and willful, entitling Yondr to enhanced damages and 

attorneys’ fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284. 

113. Yondr has been damaged by Defendants’ infringement of the 078 Patent and will 

continue to be damaged unless Defendants are enjoined by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

Yondr has suffered and continues to suffer irreparable injury for which there is no adequate remedy 

at law. The balance of hardships favors Yondr, and public interest is not disserved by an injunction. 

114. Defendants’ infringement of the ’078 Patent is exceptional and entitles Yondr to 

attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C. § 285.  
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COUNT 3: TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT, 15 USC §1114 

115. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein. 

116. Yondr owns the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark and owns valid 

registration in the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark on the Principal Register. See 

Exhibit E (“Ex. E”). 

117. Defendants are using an infringing mark that is identical to or indistinguishable 

from the genuine Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark. Defendants’ infringing mark is 

incorporated into CellockED and is used in the promotion of their CellockED product, including 

in infringing advertisements on LinkedIn, in the infringing CellockED Webpage, and in the 

Product images on the CellockED YouTube, without Yondr’s approval, authorization, or consent. 

118. Defendants’ use of the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark is likely to 

cause confusion in the minds of the public, leading the public to falsely believe that Defendants’ 

CellockED product originates from Yondr, and/or that Yondr has approved, sponsored, or 

otherwise associated itself with the goods offered for sale and/or distributed by Defendants.  

119. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ conduct is intended to exploit the strong 

reputation and goodwill that is exclusively associated with the Yondr Registered Product 

Configuration Mark and to take unfair competitive advantage of the Yondr Registered Product 

Configuration Mark’s goodwill. 

120. Yondr has no control of the quality of the goods marketed and/or sold by 

Defendants. Because of the likelihood of confusion as to the source of Defendants’ goods, or as to 

whether Defendants’ goods are sponsored or endorsed by, or are affiliated with, Yondr, in view of 

at least Defendants’ infringing advertisements on LinkedIn, the infringing CellockED Webpage, 

and the infringing product images on the CellockED YouTube account, Yondr’s valuable goodwill 
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in the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark is at the mercy of, and is being irreparably 

harmed by Defendants.  

121. Defendants’ infringing acts have caused and, unless such acts are restrained by this 

Court, will continue to cause substantial and irreparable injury to Yondr. 

122. Yondr has no adequate remedy at law.  

123. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Yondr has suffered, and will continue to suffer, 

money damages in an amount to be determined at trial.  

124. Therefore, under 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Yondr is entitled to recover its actual damages 

and Defendants’ profits attributable to their infringement of Yondr’s federally registered Yondr 

Registered Product Configuration Mark.  

125. Furthermore, this case is exceptional under 15 U.S.C. § 1117, and Yondr is entitled 

to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees.  

COUNT 4: UNFAIR COMPETITION, 15 U.S.C. § 1125 

126. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein. 

127. As set forth above, Defendants have intentionally and unlawfully engaged in 

various acts of unfair competition, including by making false misleading statements in their 

commercial advertising and promotional materials which misrepresent the characteristics and 

qualities of Yondr’s product. 

128. Defendants made false statements in interstate marketing materials to Yondr’s 

actual and prospective customers to influence those customers to instead purchase Defendants’ 

product, CellockED.  

129. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ false statements were material in that 

they influenced the purchasing decisions of Yondr’s actual and prospective customers, directly 
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and proximately causing Yondr to lose and/or make valuable concessions to actual and prospective 

customers.  

130. Upon information and belief, Defendants knew that the statements were false, or 

acted in reckless disregard of their truth or falsity.  

131. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ false statements, Yondr has 

suffered and will continue to suffer monetary and non-monetary damages, including, without 

limitation, lost profits.  

132. Yondr therefore seeks judgment in its favor to recover from Defendants all damages 

that Yondr has sustained as a result of Defendants’ false statements in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125, including punitive and treble damages, Defendants’ profits or gains resulting from willful 

acts of unfair competition, and interest, attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements, and all other relief 

permitted by law that this Court deems appropriate.  

COUNT 5: TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT UNDER TEXAS COMMON LAW 

133. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein. 

134. Yondr owns the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark and a valid 

registration in the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark on the Principal Register. See 

Ex. E. 

135. Defendants are using an infringing mark that is identical to or indistinguishable 

from the genuine Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark, both incorporated into the 

CellockED product, and for the promotion of CellockED without Yondr’s approval, authorization, 

or consent. 

136. Defendants’ use of the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark is likely to 

cause confusion in the minds of the public, leading the public to falsely believe that Defendants’ 
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CellockED product originates from Yondr, and/or that Yondr has approved, sponsored, or 

otherwise associated itself with the goods offered for sale and/or distributed by Defendants.  

137. Defendants’ conduct is intended to exploit the strong reputation and goodwill that 

is exclusively associated with the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark, to take unfair 

competitive advantage of the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark’s goodwill without 

any expenditure of Defendants’ own resources. 

138. Yondr has no control of the quality of the goods marketed and/or sold by 

Defendants. Because of the likelihood of confusion as to the source of Defendants’ goods, or as to 

whether Defendants’ goods are sponsored or endorsed by, or affiliated with, Yondr, in view of at 

least the Defendants’ infringing advertisements on LinkedIn, the infringing CellockED Webpage, 

and the infringing Product images on the CellockED YouTube account, Yondr’s valuable goodwill 

in the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark is at the mercy of, and being irreparably 

harmed, by Defendants.  

139. Defendants’ infringing acts have caused and, unless such acts are restrained by this 

Court, will continue to cause substantial and irreparable injury to Yondr. 

140. Yondr has no adequate remedy at law.  

141. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Yondr has suffered, and will continue to suffer, 

money damages in an amount to be determined at trial.  

142. Therefore, under Texas Common Law, Yondr is entitled to recover its actual 

damages and Defendants’ profits attributable to their infringement the Yondr Registered Product 

Configuration Mark.  

143. Yondr therefore seeks judgment in its favor and to recover from Defendants all 

damages that Yondr has sustained as a result of Defendants’ trademark infringement in violation 
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Texas’s Common Law prohibition of trademark infringement including an award of actual and 

special damages, as permitted by law, including punitive and treble damages, Defendants’ profits 

or gains resulting from its infringement, and interest, attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements, and 

all other relief permitted by law that this Court deems appropriate.  

COUNT 6: TRADE LIBEL UNDER TEXAS COMMON LAW 

144. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein. 

145. Defendants published a video that contained false information about Yondr.  

146. Upon information and belief, Defendants acted with malice when they published a 

video that contained false information about Yondr.  

147. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ false and misleading statements about 

Yondr influenced the purchasing decisions of Yondr’s actual and prospective customers, directly 

and proximately causing Yondr to lose and/or make valuable concessions to actual and prospective 

customers.  

148. Defendants caused special damages to Yondr, in the form of loss of trade when, 

upon information and belief, Defendants induced actual and prospective customers not to deal with 

Yondr. Upon further information and belief, Yondr has lost business opportunities as a result of 

Defendants’ actions. 

149. Yondr therefore seeks judgment in its favor and to recover from Defendants all 

damages that Yondr has sustained as a result of Defendants’ false statements in violation Texas’s 

Common Law prohibition of trade disparagement and trade libel including an award of actual and 

special damages, as permitted by law, including punitive and treble damages, Defendants’ profits 

or gains resulting from its trade libel, and interest, attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements, and 

all other relief permitted by law that this Court deems appropriate.  
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COUNT 7: COMMON LAW UNFAIR COMPETITION UNDER TEXAS LAW 

150. Yondr incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs, as if set forth herein.  

151. Defendants have made and distributed, in interstate commerce and in this District, 

statements that contain false or misleading statements of fact about Yondr and its product.  

152. Yondr’s System is sold within the State of Texas and Defendants’ statements were 

made from within Texas and reached Texas consumers.  

153. Defendants have and continue to commit unlawful acts, as pleaded above, 

including, but not limited to, trademark infringement and trade libel. Defendants have committed 

these unlawful acts maliciously and with the specific intent, to interfere with Yondr’s ability to 

conduct its own business.  

154. Defendants have and will continue to cause immediate and irreparable injury to 

Yondr, including injury to its business, reputation, and goodwill, for which there is no adequate 

remedy at law. Yondr consequently is entitled to an injunction restraining Defendants, their agents, 

employees, representatives, and all persons acting in concert with it from engaging in further acts 

of unfair competition and ordering removal of all Defendants’ false statements.  

155. Yondr is entitled to recover from Defendants the damages Yondr has sustained as 

a result of Defendants’ acts constituting unfair competition. Yondr will prove the full extent of the 

monetary damages it has suffered because of Defendants’ acts through this action. 

156. Yondr therefore seeks judgment in its favor and to recover from Defendants all 

damages that Yondr has sustained as a result of Defendants’ actions in violation Texas’s Common 

Law prohibition of unfair trade practices including an award of actual and special damages, as 

permitted by law, including punitive and treble damages, Defendants’ profits or gains resulting 
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from its unfair trade practices, and interest, attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements, and all other 

relief permitted by law that this Court deems appropriate.  

JURY DEMAND 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Yondr respectfully requests a 

trial by jury of any issues so triable by right. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Yondr respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in its favor and against 

Defendants and respectfully requests the following relief:  

1. A judgment that Defendants infringed and continue to infringe the Asserted Patents; 

2. A judgment and order requiring Defendants to pay Yondr’s monetary damages 

sufficient to compensate Yondr for Defendants’ infringement of the Asserted Patents, but in no 

event less than a reasonable royalty under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

3. An award of enhanced damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

4. An award of treble damages for Defendants’ willful infringement of the Asserted 

Patents; 

5. A judgment and order finding this to be an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285 

and requiring Defendants to pay costs of this action and attorneys’ fees; 

6. A permanent injunction against all of Defendants’ products found to infringe the 

Asserted Patents; 

7. In lieu of an injunction, an award of a compulsory forward royalty; 

8. A judgment that Defendants infringed and continue to infringe the Yondr 

Registered Product Configuration Mark; 
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9. An award of damages sustained as a consequence of Defendants’ infringement of 

the Registered Product Configuration Mark and trebling of those damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1117; 

10. A judgment that Defendants disparaged and committed trade libel against Yondr, 

infringed the Yondr Registered Product Configuration Mark and engaged in trade practices in 

violation Texas’s Common Law prohibition of unfair trade practices. 

11. An entry of a preliminary and permanent injunction against Defendants, enjoining 

Defendants from making false statements regarding Yondr, its System and/or its personnel; 

12. An entry of a preliminary and permanent injunction requiring Defendants to remove 

the defamatory and unlawful statements it has already made and issue a correction regarding same; 

13. An award of compensatory, incidental, and consequential damages, in an amount 

to be determined, for harms Yondr has and continues to suffer by Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

including harm to Yondr’s reputation and goodwill as well negative effect on Yondr’s sales and 

business value; 

14. A judgment and order requiring Defendants to pay Yondr’s pre-judgement and 

post-judgment interest on the damages award, to the full extent allowed under the law, as well as 

its costs; 

15. An order for an accounting of damages; 

16. An award of such further relief as the Court may deem appropriate and just under 

the circumstances. 
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Dated: 10/31/2024  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 By: /s/ Joshua L. Raskin  
 
Joshua L. Raskin 

WDTX No. 309973 

Anne M. Rock 

Omar A. Nesheiwat 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

One Vanderbilt Ave. 

New York, NY 10017 

(212) 801-9200 

RaskinJ@gtlaw.com 

Annie.rock@gtlaw.com 

Omar.nesheiwat@gtlaw.com 

 

 

Matthew J. Levinstein 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

77 West Wacker Dr. Suite 3100 

Chicago, IL 60601 

(312) 456-1039 

Levinsteinm@gtlaw.com 

 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF  
YONDR, INC. 
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 EXHIBIT C  
 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

Claim 3 of U.S. Patent 
No. 9,819,788 

Defendants’ CellockED 

A system for selectively 
limiting a user’s control 
of such user’s own 
electronic device, 
comprising: 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ shows how the 
CellockED product selectively limits a user’s controls of his or her 
own electronic device. 

 
a case sized to receive the 
user’s mobile electronic 
device having 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ shows that the 
CellockED product has a case sized to receive the user’s mobile 
electronic device. 

  
https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ “we propose the 
adoption of a new cell phone pouch.” 
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 EXHIBIT C  
 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

Claim 3 of U.S. Patent 
No. 9,819,788 

Defendants’ CellockED 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ Product Overview: 
“large size to secure most cellular phone devices.” 

 
a front and a rear panel  https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/ shows that the CellockED 

product has a front panel and a rear panel.  
 

 
each having first and 
second longitudinally 
opposed side edges and 
laterally opposed lower 
edges, 
 
 
 
 

 

The video posted at 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QX5utmkgqNU shows that 
the CellockED product’s front and rear panels each has first and 
second longitudinally opposed side edges and laterally opposed 
lower edges. 
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 EXHIBIT C  
 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

Claim 3 of U.S. Patent 
No. 9,819,788 

Defendants’ CellockED 

the first, second, and 
lower edges being 
secured together to define 
an opening for receiving a 
mobile electronic device,  

The video posted at 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QX5utmkgqNU shows that 
the CellockED product’s first, second, and lower edges are 
secured together to define an opening for receiving a mobile 
electronic device. 
 
 

 

 
the case operative to 
become locked so that the 
user is unable to access 
his own mobile electronic 
device contained therein 
until a predetermined 
condition is met; 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ shows one example of 
how CellockED is operative to become locked so that that the user 
is unable to access his own mobile electronic device contained 
therein until a predetermined condition is met. 
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GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

Claim 3 of U.S. Patent 
No. 9,819,788 

Defendants’ CellockED 

 
 

a locking means for at 
least partially securing 
the opening;  

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ shows that the 
CellockED product has locking means for at least partially 
securing the opening. 
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GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

 

Claim 3 of U.S. Patent 
No. 9,819,788 

Defendants’ CellockED 

 

and means for unlocking 
the case. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QX5utmkgqNUshows that the 
CellockED product has means for unlocking the case. 
 

 
 
 

 

Case 1:24-cv-01326-ADA     Document 1-4     Filed 10/31/24     Page 6 of 6

EX1009-074

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QX5utmkgqNU


Exhibit D

Case 1:24-cv-01326-ADA     Document 1-5     Filed 10/31/24     Page 1 of 5

EX1009-075



Exhibit D 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

Claim 1 of U.S. Patent 
No. 12,133,078 

Defendants’ CellockED 

A case comprising :  

 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ shows that the 
CellockED product is a case. 

  
https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ “we propose the 
adoption of a new cell phone pouch.” 

a shell defining a cavity 
sized to accommodate a 
mobile device, 

 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/ shows that the CellockED 
product has a shell defining a cavity sized to accommodate a 
mobile device.  
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Claim 1 of U.S. Patent 
No. 12,133,078 

Defendants’ CellockED 

the shell having an 
opening to receive the 
mobile device; and 
 

The video posted at 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QX5utmkgqNU shows that 
the CellockED product’s shell has an opening to receive a mobile 
device. 

 
a lock positioned 
proximate to the opening 
of the shell, 
 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ shows that the 
CellockED product has a lock positioned proximate to the opening 
of the shell. 
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GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

 

Claim 1 of U.S. Patent 
No. 12,133,078 

Defendants’ CellockED 

the lock configured to 
render the mobile device 
at least partially 
inaccessible upon the 
lock being locked with 
the mobile device within 
the cavity of the shell, 

 https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ explains that the lock 
on the CellockED product is configured to render the mobile 
device at least partially inaccessible upon the lock being locked 
with the mobile device within the cavity of the shell. 
 

 
 

the lock further 
configured to unlock to 
enable access to the 
mobile device based on a 
predetermined condition 
associated with a 
geographic region. 

https://cellocked.newschoolhero.org/about/ explains how the lock 
is configured to unlock to enable access to the mobile device 
based on a predetermined condition associated with a geographic 
region.  
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Claim 1 of U.S. Patent 
No. 12,133,078 

Defendants’ CellockED 

 

Case 1:24-cv-01326-ADA     Document 1-5     Filed 10/31/24     Page 5 of 5

EX1009-079



Exhibit E

Case 1:24-cv-01326-ADA     Document 1-6     Filed 10/31/24     Page 1 of 4

EX1009-080



Publication Date:Dec. 20, 2022
 

Mark Information

Mark Literal
Elements:

None

Standard Character
Claim:

No

Mark Drawing
Type:

2 - AN ILLUSTRATION DRAWING WITHOUT ANY WORDS(S)/ LETTER(S) /NUMBER(S)

Description of
Mark:

The mark consists of the three-dimensional configuration of a pouch for mobile computing devices. The pouch features tapered,
opposing flaps extending upward from an opening; a knob located in the center of one of the tapered flaps; and decorative binding
along the outer edge of the whole pouch. The broken lines depicting the outer edges and top of the pouch indicate placement of the
mark on the goods and are not part of the mark.

Color(s) Claimed: Color is not claimed as a feature of the mark.

Acquired
Distinctiveness

Claim:

In whole

Design Search
Code(s):

19.01.25 - Bags, bowling; Bags, camera; Boot bags, ski; Bowling bags; Cosmetic cases; Doctor's bags; Hat boxes; Medical bags;
Saddle bags; Tote bags

Related Properties Information

International
Registration

Number:

1716451

International
Application(s)

/Registration(s)
Based on this

A0131412/1716451

Generated on: This page was generated by TSDR on 2024-10-30 11:09:19 EDT

Mark:

US Serial Number: 97170045 Application Filing
Date:

Dec. 13, 2021

US Registration
Number:

6995045 Registration Date: Mar. 07, 2023

Filed as TEAS
Plus:

Yes Currently TEAS
Plus:

Yes

Register: Principal

Mark Type: Trademark

TM5 Common Status
Descriptor:

LIVE/REGISTRATION/Issued and Active

The trademark application has been registered with the Office.

Status: Registered. The registration date is used to determine when post-registration maintenance documents are due.

Status Date: Mar. 07, 2023
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Property:

Goods and Services

Note:
The following symbols indicate that the registrant/owner has amended the goods/services:

Brackets [..] indicate deleted goods/services;
Double parenthesis ((..)) identify any goods/services not claimed in a Section 15 affidavit of incontestability; and
Asterisks *..* identify additional (new) wording in the goods/services.

For: Cases adapted for cameras; Cases adapted for computers; Cases adapted for holding smartwatches; Cases adapted for mobile
phones; Cases adapted for photographic equipment

International
Class(es):

009 - Primary Class U.S Class(es): 021, 023, 026, 036, 038

Class Status: ACTIVE

Basis: 1(a)

First Use: Aug. 19, 2014 Use in Commerce: Aug. 19, 2014

Basis Information (Case Level)

Filed Use: Yes Currently Use: Yes

Filed ITU: No Currently ITU: No

Filed 44D: No Currently 44D: No

Filed 44E: No Currently 44E: No

Filed 66A: No Currently 66A: No

Filed No Basis: No Currently No Basis: No

Current Owner(s) Information

Owner Name: Yondr, Inc.

Owner Address: 12503 Venice Blvd.
Los Angeles, CALIFORNIA UNITED STATES 90066

Legal Entity Type: CORPORATION State or Country
Where Organized:

DELAWARE

Attorney/Correspondence Information

Attorney of Record

Attorney Name: Daniel I. Schloss Docket Number: 222329010100

Attorney Primary
Email Address:

schlossd@gtlaw.com Attorney Email
Authorized:

Yes

Correspondent

Correspondent
Name/Address:

Daniel I. Schloss
Greenberg Traurig, LLP
One Vanderbilt Avenue
New York, NEW YORK United States 10017

Phone: 212-801-2256 Fax: 212-805-5571

Correspondent e-
mail:

schlossd@gtlaw.com biancoc@gtlaw.com nytmdk
t@gtlaw.com gtipmail@gtlaw.com

Correspondent e-
mail Authorized:

Yes

Domestic Representative - Not Found

Prosecution History

Date Description Proceeding
Number

Feb. 22, 2024 TEAS CHANGE OF CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED

Feb. 22, 2024 ATTORNEY/DOM.REP.REVOKED AND/OR APPOINTED

Feb. 22, 2024 TEAS REVOKE/APP/CHANGE ADDR OF ATTY/DOM REP RECEIVED

Nov. 27, 2023 TEAS CHANGE OF CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED

Nov. 27, 2023 ATTORNEY/DOM.REP.REVOKED AND/OR APPOINTED
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Nov. 27, 2023 TEAS REVOKE/APP/CHANGE ADDR OF ATTY/DOM REP RECEIVED

Nov. 27, 2023 APPLICANT/CORRESPONDENCE CHANGES (NON-RESPONSIVE) ENTERED

Nov. 27, 2023 TEAS CHANGE OF OWNER ADDRESS RECEIVED

Mar. 07, 2023 NOTICE OF REGISTRATION CONFIRMATION EMAILED

Mar. 07, 2023 REGISTERED-PRINCIPAL REGISTER

Feb. 09, 2023 APPLICANT/CORRESPONDENCE CHANGES (NON-RESPONSIVE) ENTERED

Feb. 09, 2023 TEAS CHANGE OF CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED

Feb. 09, 2023 ATTORNEY/DOM.REP.REVOKED AND/OR APPOINTED

Feb. 09, 2023 TEAS REVOKE/APP/CHANGE ADDR OF ATTY/DOM REP RECEIVED

Feb. 09, 2023 TEAS CHANGE OF OWNER ADDRESS RECEIVED

Dec. 20, 2022 OFFICIAL GAZETTE PUBLICATION CONFIRMATION E-MAILED

Dec. 20, 2022 PUBLISHED FOR OPPOSITION

Nov. 30, 2022 NOTIFICATION OF NOTICE OF PUBLICATION E-MAILED

Nov. 17, 2022 APPROVED FOR PUB - PRINCIPAL REGISTER

Nov. 12, 2022 TEAS/EMAIL CORRESPONDENCE ENTERED

Nov. 11, 2022 CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED IN LAW OFFICE

Nov. 11, 2022 TEAS RESPONSE TO OFFICE ACTION RECEIVED

Oct. 06, 2022 NOTIFICATION OF NON-FINAL ACTION E-MAILED

Oct. 06, 2022 NON-FINAL ACTION E-MAILED

Oct. 06, 2022 NON-FINAL ACTION WRITTEN

Aug. 04, 2022 TEAS CHANGE OF CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED

Aug. 04, 2022 ATTORNEY/DOM.REP.REVOKED AND/OR APPOINTED

Aug. 04, 2022 TEAS REVOKE/APP/CHANGE ADDR OF ATTY/DOM REP RECEIVED

Jul. 06, 2022 ASSIGNED TO EXAMINER

Dec. 18, 2021 NOTICE OF DESIGN SEARCH CODE E-MAILED

Dec. 17, 2021 NEW APPLICATION OFFICE SUPPLIED DATA ENTERED

Dec. 16, 2021 NEW APPLICATION ENTERED

TM Staff and Location Information

TM Staff Information - None

File Location

Current Location: PUBLICATION AND ISSUE SECTION Date in Location: Mar. 07, 2023
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